STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Kershaw County

Honorable William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

GREGG PICKRELL,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-001139

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED
Apr 22 2020
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred by denying appellant immunity from prosecution pursuant to S.C. Code § 16-11-440(c) and S.C. Code §16-11-450 and where it erred as a matter of law by ruling that immunity had to be denied where “the claim is disputed,” since appellant was entitled to an immunity ruling on a correct legal basis, and, in addition, immunity should have been granted since appellant proved by the preponderance of the evidence that she was acting legally in self-defense and otherwise was entitled to immunity under the Stand Your Ground provision of S.C. Code § 16-11-440(c)?

2.

Whether the court erred by allowing Kershaw Investigator Richard DeVors to opine he did not understand how appellant could state that the decedent lunged at her when she shot him, where the decedent was shot in the back, since this was an improper lay opinion that went beyond the investigator’s duties as a fact finder, where he was not an expert qualified to give opinion testimony?

3.

Whether the court erred by allowing SLED agent Dawn Claycomb to testify she eliminated the shooting happening “within the bedroom” or “in the living room” since Claycomb was not an expert, and this impermissible lay opinion testimony was highly prejudicial since it was intended to convey to the jury that the shooting did not occur as appellant told the police it occurred?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Kershaw County Grand Jury for the offense of murder. R. 1304. Her case came on for trial on May 29, 2018, before the Honorable William A. McKinnon, and a jury. John Delgado and Amy Zmroczek represented appellant. Assistant solicitors Curtis A. Pauling, III, April W. Sampson, and Jacqueline Li represented the state. R. 296.

On June 5, 2018, the jury found appellant guilty. R. 855, ll. 17-20. Judge McKinnon sentenced appellant to thirty-five years imprisonment. R. 864, ll. 2-7.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred by denying appellant immunity from prosecution pursuant to S.C. Code § 16-11-440(c) and S.C. Code §16-11-450 where it erred as a matter of law by ruling that immunity had to be denied where “the claim is disputed,” since appellant was entitled to an immunity ruling on a correct legal basis, and, in addition, immunity should have been granted since appellant proved by the preponderance of the evidence that she was acting legally in self-defense and otherwise was entitled to immunity under the Stand Your Ground provision of S.C. Code § 16-11-440(c)

Standard of review

“A claim of immunity under the Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard, which this court reviews under an abuse of discretion standard of review.” State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013); see State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 411, 709 S.E.2d 662, 665 (2011) (recognizing that the proper standard for the circuit court to use in determining immunity under the Act is a preponderance of the evidence). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 647 S.E.2d 144 (2007); State v. Jones, 416 S.C. 283, 290, 786 S.E.2d 132, 136 (2016).

Introduction

Appellant Gregg Pickrell owned a horse farm with her mother in Camden. The decedent worked on the farm with appellant, and they had been involved in a sexual relationship. There

would be strong evidence the decedent was a violent and “mean” person, particularly when he was drinking and/or using drugs, and that appellant was a battered woman.

Relevant Facts

Defense counsel Delgado filed a motion for immunity from prosecution and motion to dismiss pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act § 16-11-410, South Carolina Code of Laws (2006), on August 9, 2016. R. 1014. In this motion, counsel noted appellant had been in an intimate relationship with Decedent Robert Lamont Demary (Monty), who was employed on her farm as a laborer for several years leading up to the fatal occurrence. “The relationship between the two had crescendoed into one of a chronic history of emotional and verbal abuse, sexual exploitation, and physical assault by the date of September 10, 2014.” R. 1014.

The motion revealed that in September 2008, the decedent was arrested in Bossimer Parish, Louisiana, for assaulting appellant [during training for a horse race there], and he spent forty-five days in jail. When the decedent returned to South Carolina from Louisiana, he again persuaded appellant to allow him to work on her horse farm. “As a consequence, she continued to suffer abuse at the hands of Demary. He held great power over Ms. Pickrell as a result of her fear of him and shame of herself; he controlled her with threats of killing her, killing her elderly mother who lived on the farm, and/or killing her livestock. This abuse continued on his return to South Carolina after confinement in Louisiana.” R. 1014.

The motion revealed that appellant documented “by cell phone photos and audio many of the results of the choking, beating and kicking incidents subsequently inflicted by Demary.” R. 1014. However, appellant sought to disguise the physical effects of being beaten by the decedent

by wearing scarves around her neck, “the wearing of turtleneck shirts, the use of long sleeves and sunglasses.” R. 1015.

The decedent’s grandmother wrote appellant a note advising her to “get out of the abuse as soon as you can.” R. 1015. The decedent repeatedly abused appellant by holding her hostage “for several hours of repeated sexual assaults, choking, assaulting her in the face and body with his fists, kicking her, and shoving her into furniture or onto the floor. The defendant had developed a coping mechanism over the course of these assaults by trying to placate and calm Demary from getting violent by providing him food and attempting to make peace.” R. 1015.

On September 10, 2014, the decedent again verbally accosted appellant, kicked her, and beat her in appellant’s small home. In the early morning hours of September 11, 2014, after the decedent forced appellant to have sexual intercourse and threatened “[t]o kill her and her mother, Demary was shot once by Ms. Pickrell. She immediately called 911 for assistance and aid for Demary and stayed at the scene until law enforcement and EMS personnel arrived.” R. 1016.

The motion also noted that appellant was interviewed by video and audio recording at the Kershaw County Sheriff’s Department for approximately two hours later on September 11, 2014. She was also “forensically evaluated at the Kershaw County Memorial Hospital and prescribed medication for her injuries.” R. 1016.

The motion argued appellant was immune from prosecution pursuant to S.C. Code § 16-11-410 et seq., the Protection of Persons and Property Act. R. 1016-1018.

The immunity hearing

An immunity hearing was held January 26-27, 2017, before the Honorable Alison Lee. John Delgado represented appellant, and April Sampson and Curtis Pauling were the assistant solicitors. R. 1.

At the beginning of the immunity hearing, defense counsel noted the exhibits to his motion for immunity. These included Exhibit A, which was an incident report from the Bossimer, Louisiana city police department about an incident where the decedent called appellant a “bitch,” “slut,” “cunt,” and other offensive words. The decedent also told appellant “fuck you,” several times. In addition, the decedent threw a Gatorade bottle that was half full -- which struck appellant on the right side of her face -- and which left a distinct black mark and swelling near appellant’s right eye. Appellant told the police the decedent also punched her in the ribs, that there was one witness to her being hit by the decedent, and to the decedent’s cursing her. The incident report was dated September 25, 2008. R. 13; r. 1021.

The exhibits to the immunity motion also contained photographs of the marks left on the abused appellant. In addition, the decedent’s grandmother wrote appellant on June 10, 2008, advising appellant to “[g]et out of abuse as soon as you can . . .” “I’m going to talk to Monty and see if he will try and get some help for his temper because he wasn’t raised like that.” R. 14-16; r. 1036.

Exhibit E was an incident report wherein Tyrone Pearson, another one of appellant’s farm workers, told the police that the decedent telephoned him on November 20, 2008, stating he was on his way back to Camden, South Carolina, to kill Pearson. See Attachment E to motion, R. 1041.

The judge read the contents of the exhibits into the record. She observed that to be admissible, the altercations must take haven place between the decedent and appellant or their specific acts must have been known to appellant and affected her state of mind. R. 29, l. 3 – 37, l. 19.

Defense counsel Delgado argued appellant was entitled to immunity under S.C. Code § 16-11-440(c), which was the Stand Your Ground portion of the statute. R. 45, l. 1 – 47, l. 13.

Appellant testifies

Appellant took the stand in her own defense during the immunity hearing. She was sixty-three-years old. R. 56, l. 19 – 57, l. 1. She lived on Baynard Boykin Road in Kershaw County. She admitted she shot the decedent on September 11, 2014, because “[h]e was going to kill me, and he was going to kill my mother.” Appellant’s mother was eighty-nine years old on September 11, 2014. R. 57, ll. 6-25.

Appellant testified she moved to Camden “from the Mexican border of Arizona to the farm with an entire ranch operation.” Appellant was a “horse trainer” by trade. She had between twenty and thirty horses on the farm in September of 2014. R. 58, ll. 16-22.

Appellant described how one of her horses won a race in Shreveport, Bossier City, Louisiana, on October 9, 2008, while ridden by legendary jockey Patrick Valenzuela. It was the 400th win of Valenzuela’s career. R. 59, ll. 12-24. Appellant was accompanied to Louisiana for the horse race by the decedent and another employee, Tyrone Pearson. R. 60, ll. 3-24.

The decedent was incarcerated that weekend in Louisiana because he hit appellant and he “told Tyrone Pearson that he was going him kill him . . .” R. 62, l. 16 – 63, l. 3. The police report was made in Louisiana about the incident where the decedent “hit me in the ribs with a closed fist . . . he threw a Gatorade bottle and hit me in the right side of my face.” R. 64, l. 18 – 65, l. 22. The decedent was incarcerated in Louisiana for about sixty days as a result of this assault and battery upon appellant. R. 66, ll. 10-11.

The decedent returned to appellant’s farm in “mid-May or midyear 2011.” “He came to the farm. He wanted part-time work, which is really all I could handle. I didn’t have any other

people really working for me.” The decedent was therefore rehired to work part-time on the farm. R. 67, l. 16 – 68, l. 8.

Altercations and “horrendous arguments” began with the decedent again, and “I started taking pictures. I took pictures of myself. . . . I needed to have a record for my mother because I felt -- I was in fear that I would end up dead in my house, and I wanted my mother to have some sort of a map that would tell her what had happened to me.” R. 68, ll. 4-13. Appellant contacted the police and she had the *victim’s advocate, Barbara Jones, file the order of protection she had from Louisiana in Kershaw County.* R. 68, l. 14 – 69, l. 5.

Appellant identified photographs showing where the decedent left marks and bruises on her neck from almost strangling her. R. 69, l. 27 – 71, l. 7; r. 72, l. 5 – 74, l. 21. Appellant also identified a letter from the decedent’s grandmother, Estelle Belton, which was attached to her immunity motion, where Belton urged appellant to take care of herself against the decedent’s abuse. R. 76, l. 18 – 78, l. 20. Appellant added that the decedent had a “explosive” temper problem. R. 78, ll. 18-20.

On September 10, 2014, appellant worked on the farm all day and the decedent arrived at her farmhouse shortly after ten o’clock that night. R. 78, l. 21 – 79, l. 4. Appellant described her farm as a 123-acre farm on which her mother lived in another house. It was undisputed that the farmhouse, and appellant’s bedroom were small. The decedent arrived that night in a taxi, and it was not unusual for the decedent to walk from the mailbox on the road to appellant’s house. One cab driver later explained that the decedent did not want the car lights to “spook the horses.” R. 78, l. 21 – 81, l. 23.

Appellant related that the decedent came to her house when he wanted to come over, and “you didn’t tell Monty to leave . . . Monty did what he wanted to do and that was that.” R. 82,

l. 17 – 83, l. 4. Appellant remembered between ten o'clock and midnight that evening, "We had poured a drink and we were outside at the table on this side of the house." R. 85, ll. 9-15.

The sheriff of Kershaw County, Sheriff Matthews, lived on a nearby farm and his dog "started to howl." The decedent was angry "about everything going on that night, the sheriff, the President was speaking about ISIS. He was -- he was very, very angry about everything, and the howling dog was -- basically, was -- I knew I had to get up after there was an altercation or an argument about the howling hound, which is just down -- it's down the road in -- in the forest down there." R. 86, ll. 6-22.

Appellant got up from the table and started walking away when the decedent came behind her and "[g]rabbed my hair and he thrust me into the door and he said 'you don't get up and leave without announcing.' And it -- that's -- [how] the whole episode started. There was [were] several episodes that night, but that was the start of the -- the violence, the fear. . . . I conditioned myself to just deal with it, and I became obedient. I was submissive. I -- I just wanted him to not beat me up and explode." Appellant related "it was a telltale setting *that happened hundreds of times before with Monty*." R. 86, l. 14 – 87, l. 22. (emphasis added).

Appellant related how she tried to placate the decedent. So, between midnight and two in the morning this time she put on a movie for them to watch. Appellant ultimately went and laid down on her bed. She next saw the decedent standing over her bed, "and he demanded sex." Appellant said she could "never, never" refuse to have sex with the decedent. R. 90, ll. 15-24. Appellant had a urinary tract infection at the time and "when Monty forced himself on me and in me for hours and I -- I begged him. I screamed in agony -- in agony from the sex." R. 90, l. 22 – 91, l. 6.

Appellant described her state of mind at the time, which included her clear memory from five weeks prior to this incident, in August of 2014, when the decedent had driven onto her property -- drunk without a driver's license -- in car of another person. Appellant called the police and they told her that they could have the decedent arrested for trespassing if he came on the property again. R. 92, l. 3 – 93, l. 15.

Appellant explained that calling the police and having the decedent arrested for trespassing would only have made things much worse. She said that the decedent hated law enforcement and if he went to jail again, “he was going to make it worth it. He was going to kill me and my mother.” R. 92, l. 3 – 93, l. 15.

The next morning, appellant said she heard the decedent banging things around her house and she quickly learned he was angry because: “I can’t find my fucking [diamond] earring. . .” Appellant told the decedent, “Monty, you’ve lost earrings. I’ve lost earrings. I can find it for you. I will find it in the house.” The decedent repeated, “I’m going to find my fucking earring and I’m going to find it now and I don’t care.” R. 97, ll. 2-24.

Appellant followed the decedent back into the bedroom as he “was in a frenzy over this earring, and I kept pleading with him and I kept begging him. We have got to go. My mother is about to arrive. Please, let’s go. And I just kept saying I’ll find the earring.” Instead, the decedent “thrust me face first into the trunk, which I still have the indentation in my cheek from that thrust impact. And then as I -- I was down. I was actually down on the ground, and I started to cry. This hurt like -- *it’s almost unbelievable how it hurt I mean, and then I was trying to get up and he kicked me. He kicked me in the back.* He kicked me in the back and I -- I was on my - *I was on my belly.*” R. 98, l. 2 – 99, l. 21. (emphasis added).

Appellant said as she tried to pull herself off the floor the decedent “grabbed my ankle and he yanked my ankle back and it sort of did a -- it just -- it went around the side of the corner of the trunk or the side of the trunk and it yanked it.” R. 100, ll. 4-10. Appellant remembered:

So I was yanked back at him. He yanked me back and *I just kept struggling and he was yelling*. He was spewing profane, profane words about me and my mother and you fucking cunt and you worthless piece of shit and your mother is -- I mean just the biggest bag of the world and she’s a cunt too, and on and on and on.

And I got myself here and I’m saying to myself, *you’re going to die, Gregg. You’re going to die. I was -- I was scared. I was scared. The terror in my mind* -- I was thinking a million things as this was going on, a million things, and I’m thinking I have -- I’ve got to protect myself. *I’ve got to save myself*. I have to -- I have to get through this.

R. 100, ll. 11-23. (emphasis added).

Appellant said she remembered that she kept a .32 Beretta behind a boombox on a desk. R. 100, l. 24 – 102, l. 5. Appellant was able to *pull herself up, grab the gun, and with her “equilibrium completely off” she pointed the gun and shot one time*. She saw the decedent’s body move and she ran. She grabbed her cell phone and while she was running, she dialed 911. R. 102, l. 1 – 103, l. 22. (emphasis added).

Appellant explained that when decedent saw her with the gun in her hand, he said, “You wouldn’t fucking fire that. You wouldn’t fucking shoot it. You wouldn’t shoot me,” and “[h]e moved” and appellant shot him. R. 108, l. 17 – 109, l. 16.

Appellant described how she gave a statement to the police at the police station that day and how her attorney came to the police station while she was being interviewed. R. 112, l. 10 – 114, l. 2. Appellant said she only shot the decedent because “He was going to kill me. He was

going to kill my mother.” R. 114, ll. 3-5. The transcripts of those two statements are at R. 1064-1265.

On cross-examination, appellant said the investigators were “very kind people” and they told her they knew she had been through “a traumatic experience and you may well go away from here and remember things that you wanted to say to me.” Appellant told the solicitor the experience “that I had just gone through over the last 11 hours was beyond comprehension, ma’am.” R. 152, l. 11 – 154, l. 3. Appellant said the combination of pain and fear made her nauseous but that she had done her best to relate the terror she had been through to the investigators. R. 153, l. 23 – 156, l. 15.

Appellant testified that the decedent had hit her in the head with several objects just before the shooting. R. 157, l. 17 – 159, l. 24. Appellant further explained that she had Meniere’s disease, which was “totally debilitating” for someone with a head injury since it apparently caused further dizziness. R. 157, ll. 17-23. Appellant repeated to the solicitor that the sex before the shooting was forced, and she said this was “the only way you could deal with Monty” as she tried to explain the difference between technically consensual sex and forced sexual intercourse. R. 159, l. 19 – 160, l. 18.

Appellant also told the solicitor during cross-examination that when she went to the hospital following the shooting she was given “an antibiotic for the urinary tract infection . . . a painkiller [which was Oxycodone], a muscle relaxer, and I believe an anti-inflammatory [medication].” R. 202, ll. 12-19.

The pathologist, Dr. Janice Ross, testified the background information she was given was that the decedent “was shot in the back allegedly by his girlfriend with a .32 caliber handgun.” R. 207, ll. 8-16. Dr. Ross found a single gunshot into the decedent’s left midback, which went

through both lungs and the heart and killed the decedent. The bullet did not leave the decedent's body. R. 207, l. 25 – 209, l. 9.

Dr. Ross opined the decedent would have had his back turned to the shooter and he was likely bent over when he was shot. R. 210, ll. 15-20. The state used this explanation to urge that the decedent was looking for his earring at the time he was shot. However, on cross-examination, Dr. Ross admitted the decedent could have been moving when the gun discharged, there were other possible scenarios that could have occurred but she repeated that the gunshot would have had to have been from two feet or further away given no stippling was found on the decedent.¹ R. 215, l. 9 – 216, l. 1.

The decedent had a blood alcohol reading of .16 and he had marijuana in his system. R. 212, l. 13 – 213, l. 13. Dr. Ross refused to elaborate further on the effects of marijuana with the alcohol on the decedent, stating, "I'm not a toxicologist." R. 213, ll. 8-20.

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