ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Kershaw County
Honorable Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge
Honorable William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2018-001139

RECEIVED

APR 08 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Respondent,

THE STATE,

vs.

GREGG PICKRELL,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BYRON E. GIPSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 192
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 576-1800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Kershaw County

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

Subsequent to that testimony, Investigator Miles Taylor from the Kershaw County Sheriff's Office also offered testimony about his role in the investigation into Victim's death and confirmed he obtained an arrest warrant for Appellant based on what was uncovered through that investigation. (R. pp. 710-764). Significantly, during his testimony, Investigator Taylor offered testimony highly similar to Investigator Bailey's and noted—without objection—he was concerned by the fact Appellant reported Victim was lunging at her when she shot him, which

not properly preserved for appellate review where Benton “argued one ground in support of a circumstantial evidence charge at trial (State only presented circumstantial evidence of intent) and argues another ground in support of the charge on appeal (palm print is circumstantial evidence)”).

the investigator asserted was “totally” inconsistent with the autopsy results establishing Victim was shot in the back. (R. pp. 763-764).

Following the presentation of that evidence and testimony, the parties presented their closing arguments to the jury, and the trial judge instructed the jury on the applicable law.¹⁵ (R. pp. 775-822; pp. 824-845). At the conclusion of the trial judge’s jury instructions, the case was submitted to the jury, and the jury ultimately convicted Appellant of Victim’s murder as indicted. (R. p. 846; p. 849).

Analysis

A. Admissibility of Investigator Bailey’s Testimony About His Perceptions During His Interview of Appellant

In South Carolina, a lay witness is permitted to offer opinion testimony when the witness’s opinion or inference: (1) is rationally based on the witness’s perception; (2) is helpful to a clear understanding of the witness’s testimony or to the determination of a fact in issue; and (3) does not require special knowledge, skill, experience, or training. Rule 701, SCRE; see State v. Williams, 321 S.C. 455, 463, 469 S.E.2d 49, 54 (1996) (“The opinion or inference of a lay witness is admissible if it is a) rationally based on the perception of the witness, b) helpful to the determination of a fact in issue, and c) does not require special knowledge.”). Significantly, “conclusions or opinions of laymen should be rejected only when they are superfluous in the sense that they will be of *no* value to the jury.” State v. McClinton, 265 S.C. 171, 176-177, 217 S.E.2d 584, 586 (1975) (emphasis added). Furthermore, “[t]estimony in the form of an opinion or inference otherwise admissible is not objectionable because it embraces an ultimate issue to be

¹⁵ Through his jury instructions, the trial judge thoroughly explained the State’s burden of proving Appellant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, noted Appellant was presumed to be innocent until her guilt had been established, expressly advised the jurors they were the sole and exclusive judges of the facts, discussed the evaluation of witness credibility, and instructed the jurors on the elements of murder and the defense of self-defense. (R. pp. 825-833; pp. 837-844).

decided by the trier of fact.” Rule 704, SCRE.

In the case at bar, Investigator Bailey—in recounting the details of his interview with Appellant and explaining why he repeatedly asked her about her reason for shooting Victim—testified he was concerned by Appellant’s responses during the interview because her claim Victim was lunging at her seemed to him to be inconsistent with the physical evidence he knew established Victim had been shot in the back. Significantly, Investigator Bailey’s testimony in that regard was based on his personal perceptions of Appellant’s statements and gestures during the interview coupled with his personal knowledge of the fact Victim had a gunshot wound to the back and, thus, was clearly rationally based on his own perceptions. See United States v. Parkhurst, 865 F.3d 509, 515 (7th Cir. 2017) (explaining a detective’s testimony about the interpretations he drew from a conversation with a defendant was “based on his perceptions of the conversation at the time it occurred” and characterizing such testimony as “classic Rule 701 lay-witness testimony”). Additionally, that perception-based testimony could have been helpful to the jury in better and more fully understanding Appellant’s responses during the interview because Investigator Bailey—unlike the jurors—was seated directly across from Appellant in the interview room and, therefore, was in the best possible position to evaluate and interpret her demeanor, statements, and gestures as she spoke with him. See State v. Fripp, 396 S.C. 434, 439-440, 721 S.E.2d 465, 467-468 (Ct. App. 2012) (finding the trial judge properly permitted two witnesses to offer lay witness opinion testimony identifying Fripp from surveillance footage based on their knowledge of him due to the fact the testimony was rationally based on their perceptions and could have aided the jurors by providing a better perspective of the evidence before them); cf. Robinson v. United States, 797 A.2d 698, 707 (D.C. 2002) (“Whalen’s ‘opinion’ testimony was based on his personal observations of Harris’ demeanor and on the fact

that he had received contradictory information from another witness that Harris was outside, not inside, when the shooting occurred. The trial judge could, and did, reasonably conclude that Whalen's testimony would be helpful to the jury because it explained why he questioned Harris a second time for information about Frank Blakeney's murder."'). Moreover, that testimony was additionally helpful towards aiding the jury in understanding the investigative decisions made during and after the interview, including in regard to why the questioning was conducted in the manner that it was conducted and why Appellant was ultimately arrested as the investigation moved forward.¹⁶ See Davis v. People, 310 P.3d 58, 63 (Colo. 2013) ("[A] detective may testify about his or her assessments of interviewee credibility when that testimony is offered to provide context for the detective's interrogation tactics and investigative decisions."); cf. State v. Houser, 768 S.E.2d 626, 632 (N.C. Ct. App. 2015) (concluding the trial judge did not err by admitting testimony from an investigating officer indicating the defendant's account of the incident was inconsistent with the physical evidence because that testimony was proper in light of the fact it was rationally based on the officer's perceptions and was helpful in providing a clear understanding to the jury of the officer's investigative process and reasons for undertaking certain actions). Finally, that testimony was based solely on—and merely conveyed—the logical and obvious inferences Investigator Bailey drew from the things he personally perceived without relying on any expert, scientific, or specialized knowledge. See United States v. Dempsey, 629 F. App'x 223, 227-228 (3d Cir. 2015) (holding the district court judge did not err by admitting officer testimony indicating Dempsey was not truthful during an interrogation because that

¹⁶ Demonstrating the necessity of the jury receiving accurate—and direct—information about the circumstances and details of Investigator Bailey's interview of Appellant from the investigator himself, defense counsel appeared to imply during her closing argument Appellant had not, in fact, claimed during the interview Victim was lunging at her at the time of the shooting even after Investigator Bailey directly testified to the contrary during trial. (R. pp. 810-811).

testimony was rationally based on the officers' personal perceptions, could have been helpful to the jury, and did not require any special knowledge or expertise).

Under those circumstances, Investigator Bailey's testimony constituted proper lay opinion testimony as it met all the necessary requirements for admission, and it was not completely superfluous or valueless such that it warranted exclusion during trial. See McClinton, 265 S.C. at 176-177, 217 S.E.2d at 586 (explaining the conclusions or opinions of a lay witness should only be rejected when they are superfluous such that they have no value whatsoever for the jury). Accordingly, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion by admitting the challenged portion of Investigator Bailey's testimony. See State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847-848 (2006) (instructing a trial judge's evidentiary ruling will not be reversed on appeal absent a manifest prejudicial abuse of discretion); see also United States v. Mandujano, 499 F.2d 370, 379 (5th Cir. 1974) ("[A] trial court has some latitude in permitting a witness on direct examination to testify as to his conclusions, based on common knowledge or experience."). Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

B. Harmlessness of Any Error in the Admission of Investigator Bailey's Testimony Based on the Other Evidence Presented

Even if a trial judge improperly admits inadmissible testimony during the course of a trial, reversal is not automatically warranted as such an error may have been harmless under the circumstances involved. See State v. Northcutt, 372 S.C. 207, 217, 641 S.E.2d 873, 878 (2007) ("Determining the trial judge committed error is the first step of our analysis. Next we must determine whether the error was harmless."). When conducting a harmless error analysis, an appellate court must ordinarily review the record as a whole to ascertain the impact of an error. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 55, 625 S.E.2d 216, 223 (2006); see United States v. Hasting, 461 U.S. 499, 509 (1983) ("[I]t is the duty of a reviewing court to consider the trial record *as a whole*

and to ignore errors that are harmless, including most constitutional violations[.]” (emphasis added)). The harmless nature of an error generally depends on its materiality in relation to the case as a whole. State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003); see State v. Wiley, 387 S.C. 490, 497, 692 S.E.2d 560, 564 (Ct. App. 2010) (“No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.”). Significantly, after reviewing the entire record, the appellate court will typically not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result, and errors are generally deemed harmless when they do not contribute to the verdict. State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991); see State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 25, 664 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2008) (“Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where it did not contribute to the verdict obtained.”).

In Appellant’s case, any conceivable error committed by the trial judge through his admission of the challenged portion of Investigator Bailey’s testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the other evidence presented during the course of trial.

Demonstrating that fact, the challenged portion of Investigator Bailey’s testimony, which merely conveyed to the jury the investigator was skeptical of Appellant’s account of the shooting in light of his knowledge of the fact Victim had been shot in the back, was entirely cumulative to virtually-identical testimony defense counsel himself elicited from Investigator Bailey on cross-examination. See State v. Smith, 245 S.C. 59, 62, 138 S.E.2d 705, 706 (1964) (“After the testimony complained of had been admitted in evidence over objection, counsel cross-examined the witness thereabout without reserving the objection previously made. The objection was thereby by lost and if any error had been committed in the admission of the testimony, it was cured.”); State v. O’Neal, 210 S.C. 305, 312, 42 S.E.2d 523, 526 (1947) (“An objection to the

admission of evidence is waived where the same or similar evidence has been elicited by the objector.”); cf. State v. McKinney, 258 S.C. 570, 571, 190 S.E.2d 30, 30 (1972) (“During the course of the trial certain testimony was admitted over the objection of [McKinney’s] counsel. Thereafter, counsel for [McKinney] cross-examined the witness thereabout without reserving the objection previously made. The objection was thereby lost and if any error had been committed in the admission of the testimony it was cured.”). Likewise, Investigator Bailey’s testimony was entirely cumulative to unobjected-to testimony from Investigator Taylor conveying the exact same concern caused by the fact Appellant’s statements seemed to be inconsistent with the physical evidence. See State v. White, 361 S.C. 407, 415, 605 S.E.2d 540, 544 (2004) (“Even assuming the trial judge erred in admitting the testimony, reversal is not warranted when evidence erroneously admitted is merely cumulative.”); State v. McFarlane, 279 S.C. 327, 330, 306 S.E.2d 611, 613 (1983) (“It is well settled that the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence.”). Furthermore, even without consideration of the investigators’ cumulative unobjected-to testimony, Dr. Ross’s testimony directly established the shooter was positioned behind Victim when Victim was shot in the back based on the physical characteristics of the gunshot wound, which meant the jury received an expert conclusion that established Victim’s injuries were not consistent with Appellant’s claimed version of events and fully validated Investigator Bailey’s skepticism and concern. See State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 329, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978) (“Under settled principles, the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence.”); cf. State v. Lawrence, 264 S.C. 3, 17, 212 S.E.2d 52, 58 (1974) (finding any error in the admission of testimony that may have been beyond a witness’s “competence” was harmless “because the fact stated was otherwise abundantly clear on the record” (emphasis added)).

In light of the fact the challenged portion of Investigator Bailey's testimony was entirely cumulative to the other evidence presented during trial, any possible error in the admission of Investigator Bailey's testimony could not have had any impact on the outcome of Appellant's case. See State v. Oglesby, 384 S.C. 289, 293, 681 S.E.2d 620, 622 (Ct. App. 2009) (“[T]he admission of improper evidence is deemed harmless if it is merely cumulative to other evidence.”); cf. O’Neal, 210 S.C. at 311-312, 42 S.E.2d at 525-526 (“Error is assigned because the court, over objection, permitted the witness, Bracey, to testify to certain statements made to him It is not necessary for this court to say whether the admission of this testimony constituted error or prejudicial error. An examination of the record shows that counsel for appellant brought out the same evidence upon their cross-examination of the witness, Bracey.”). Accordingly, even if the trial judge somehow erred by admitting Investigator Bailey's testimony, such an error was nonetheless harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See State v. Wyatt, 317 S.C. 370, 372, 453 S.E.2d 890, 891 (1995) (recognizing an error must be prejudicial to warrant reversal on appeal); see also Fletcher, 379 S.C. at 25, 664 S.E.2d at 484 (explaining an error is harmless when it did not contribute to the verdict obtained). Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

III.

Even assuming the trial judge erred by admitting non-expert opinion testimony from a law enforcement agent regarding the purported significance of the location where a fired cartridge case was found after the shooting, any possible error in the admission of that testimony was entirely harmless because the testimony was refuted by expert testimony that was subsequently presented, was insignificant and unimportant when considered in the context of the case as a whole, and was not significant or relevant to any critical issue in dispute and, therefore, could not have contributed to the outcome of Appellant's case.

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